2004

Melany Zoumadakis v. Uintah Basin Medical Center and individuals Dr. Mark Mason, Lloyd Nielson, Carolyn Smith, and John Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction is proper pursuant to § 78-2a-3 et. seq. of the Utah Code Annotated, in that this is a case that was transferred from the Utah Supreme Court to the Utah Court of Appeals. This matter is an appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court final order wherein the Supreme Court had original jurisdiction pursuant to § 78-2-2(4) of the Utah Code Annotated.

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

The District Court erred by granting appellees' Motion to Dismiss and by not allowing appellant to conduct discovery that would support the allegations in the Complaint. The Complaint was sufficiently plead according to Rule 8 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and the District Court erred by dismissing appellant's claims. The District Court also erred when it ignored appellant's request for time to amend the complaint during oral arguments and issued its final order to dismiss before appellant could file her Motion to Amend.

These issues have been reserved for appeal because a final ruling against Appellant took effect on May 24, 2004, and a timely appeal was filed on June 22, 2004.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for challenging the District Court's findings are reviewed "for correctness, according them [the District Court] no particular deference." Bonham v. Morgan, 788 P.2d 497, 499 (Utah 1989). In reviewing the District Court's grant of a motion to dismiss for correctness, the Court "must accept the factual allegations in the complaint as true and consider all reasonable inferences to be drawn from those facts in a light most favorable to the plaintiff." Ho v. Jim's Enterprises, Inc., 29 P.3d 633, 636 (Utah 2001).

The standard of review for the "denial to amend pleadings is abuse of discretion." Kasco Services Corporation v. Benson, 831 P.2d 86, 92 (Utah 1992). The "primary consideration that a trial judge must take into account in determining whether leave should be granted is whether the opposing side would be put to unavoidable prejudice by having an issue adjudicated for which he had not had time to prepare." Id.

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Rule 8 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

"A pleading which sets forth a claim for relief ... shall contain (1) a short plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief, and (2) a demand for judgment for the relief to which he deems himself entitled."

Rule 15(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure:

"...a party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires."

Article 1, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution:

"No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law."

Article 1, Section 11 of the Utah Constitution:

“All courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law...”

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 5, 2003, appellant filed a Verified Complaint claiming defamation, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and tortious interference with contract. On January 23, 2004, appellees filed a Motion to Dismiss and Memorandum in Support thereof, stating that appellant had failed to state a claim. Appellant replied with an Objection to the Motion to Dismiss and appellees filed a reply memorandum. Oral arguments were held on May 10, 2004. Appellant argued that discovery would be an integral part of the case and that an allowance of time to amend the complaint would be in order before dismissing the claims.

On May 24, 2004, the court filed an Order granting appellees Motion to Dismiss. The Court found that the claim for defamation was not pled with particularity and that qualified privilege prevented the claim. On the issue of intentional infliction of emotional distress, the court found that the claim was insufficient and that the alleged conduct did not rise to the level required by Utah law. Finally the court found with respect to the claim of interference with an employment contract, that there was no contract to be enforced.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about June 11, 1990, the appellant began her employment as a registered nurse with appellee, Uintah Basin Medical Center (hereinafter “UBMC”). (Compl. ¶ 5). As far as appellant knew, she never received a negative report during her employment with UBMC Home Healthcare. (Compl. ¶ 6).

On or about September 19, 2003, the appellant was called into appellee, Lloyd Nielson's (hereinafter "Nielson"), office and was told that there have been numerous complaints by appellee, Dr. Mark Mason (hereinafter "Mason"), against appellant. (Compl. ¶ 7). The specific complaints by Mason included that the appellant was telling patients that Mason was ordering wrong things, that Mason was giving improper care, and that appellant smelled of alcohol as complained of by an unsolicited patient. (Compl. ¶ 8). According to appellant's received information and belief, appellee, Carolyn Smith (hereinafter "Smith"), misrepresented to Mason that appellant was questioning his care. (Compl. ¶ 9).

Without any research into these allegations, Nielson wrote a disciplinary action subjecting appellant to alcohol and drug screens, a communications class, denial of appellant to speak with Mason's patients, and denial of appellant to speak with any patient or doctor about various treatments. (Compl. ¶ 10). These restrictions on appellant would make it impossible for her to follow her general duties as a registered nurse. (Compl. ¶ 11).

During this meeting with Nielson, appellant was asked to sign a disciplinary action form. Appellant would not sign the disciplinary action form, and requested to take it home, review it, and make proper suggestions with her attorney. When appellant would not sign the form Nielson fired her. Due to this firing, appellant lost her long term sick leave, medical benefits, life insurance, retirement benefits, wages, and her job. (Compl. ¶ 14.)

Appellant claims that Nielson defamed her by adding untrue reports to her employment file, told the Department of Workforce Services that she quit and was not fired, and misstated that appellant's professionalism and work history which affected her ability to keep her job, or to obtain future work. (Compl. ¶ 36).

According to appellant's information and belief, the disciplinary action came as a result of libel, slanderous, patently false, and fraudulent misrepresentations by appellees Nielson, Mason, Smith, and/or other John Does. (Compl. ¶ 12). According to appellant, she believes that appellees did nothing to confirm or corroborate the allegations against the appellant. (Compl. ¶ 13).

Appellant filed her complaint against appellees on December 5, 2003. Appellees then filed its Motion to Dismiss on February 18, 2004. Appellant replied in an Objection to the Motion to Dismiss on February 24, 2004 and then filed a request for oral argument. (Docketing Statement ¶ S). At the oral argument appellant repeatedly stated that dismissal without discovery would be unfair. (Tr. at 11, 12, 13, 20, 21). As well, appellant asked the court for the time allowed to amend the complaint before considering dismissal. (Tr. at 18). The District Court filed its Order granting appellees' Motion to Dismiss.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant's claims of defamation, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and tortious interference with employment contract were all sufficiently plead in her Verified Complaint. The District Court erred when the granted appellees Motion to Dismiss. This case was dismissed without allowing appellant to participate in any discovery or amend the complaint. Appellant requests that this Order by the District Court should be remanded so appellant can conduct necessary discovery regarding her case because the Complaint contained sufficient statements of claims. As well, appellant requests that this case be remanded so that appellant can have time to submit a Motion to Amend the Complaint to plead her claims with more particularity.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING THE CASE BECAUSE APPELLANT'S COMPLAINT WAS PLEAD WITH PARTICULARITY TO SURVIVE A MOTION TO DISMISS.

The District Court erred by granting the Motion to Dismiss for failure to state a claim because appellant's complaint was sufficient to allow this case to continue into discovery. The Utah Rules of Civil Procedure "restrict the pleadings to the task of general notice-giving and invest the deposition-discovery process with the vital role in the preparation for trial." Williams v. State Farm Insurance Company, 656 P.2d 966, 970 (Utah 1982), citing Blackham v. Snelgrove, 280 P.2d 453, 455 (Utah 1955). The Williams Court goes on to state that "a complaint is required only to ... give the opposing party fair notice of the nature and basis or grounds of the claim and a general indication of the type of litigation involved." *Id.* Appellant did file a complaint that was sufficient to give notice of the claims and an indication of the type of litigation involved. The following arguments will outline the claims in the complaint and why they should have withstood the Motion to Dismiss.

A. APPELLANT HAD A VIABLE CAUSE OF ACTION IN DEFAMATION AGAINST APPELLEES.

In appellant's Complaint it states that appellees published falsehoods of appellant to other employees and to the Department of Workforce Services. These falsehoods were clearly listed as "specific complaints by Mason included that the [appellant] was telling patients that Mason was ordering wrong things, that Mason was giving improper care, and that the [appellant] smelled of alcohol as complained of by an unsolicited patient." Compl. ¶ 8. Due to these defamatory statements appellant has lost her job with UBMC, cannot find new employment, and is in danger of losing her home.

The District Court in its Order granting the Motion to Dismiss stated that appellant's claim for defamation was not plead with particularity and that the general statements referred to in the Complaint do not inform the defendants when, where, and whom the statements were made by. However, in Williams, the Court stated that "a complaint for defamation must set forth 'the language complained of ... in words or words to that effect.'" 656 P.2d 966, 970 (Utah 1982). The Williams Court stated that statements such as "annoy, threaten, and intimidate" or "derogatory and libelous statements" are insufficient. Id. However, in the case at bar, appellant has plead in "words to that effect," the untrue statements of the appellees. The defamatory statements that appellant plead in her Complaint were plead with enough particularity to survive a Motion to Dismiss and to continue on to the discovery process.

The District Court also found that the defamation claim could be dismissed because the statements were subject to qualified privilege. "If qualified privilege exists, the burden is on the plaintiff to prove that the privilege was abused. The plaintiff can show abuse of the privilege by proving that the defendant acted with malice or that the publication of the defamatory material extended beyond those who had a legally justified reason for receiving it." Brehany v. Nordstrom, 812 P.2d 49, 58 (Utah 1991). Appellant would hope to prove with discovery, even though the defamatory statements made by Mason, Smith, and Nielson may be protected by qualified privilege, that possible statements made to Workforce Services would be publishing of the defamatory statements. Appellant argues that discovery is needed to obtain her employment file and her Department of Workforce Services file to substantiate how far the defamatory statements have been spread. However, even if Workforce Services would be considered a legitimately interested recipient or third-party and covered by qualified privilege, the

District Court could have allowed appellant time to file a Motion to Amend to include in her defamation claim that appellees acted with malice. Once the Complaint was amended with the facts showing appellees acted with malice, then the defamation claim would stand the challenge of qualified privilege.

Therefore, the District Court should have denied the Motion to Dismiss and allowed appellant to either seek discovery of her employment file and her Department of Workforce Services file, or allow appellant time to file a Motion to Amend the Complaint to add facts to her defamation claim to show appellees acted with malice.

B. APPELLANT'S CLAIM OF INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS IS A VIABLE CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST APPELLEES.

Appellant has been suffering from severe emotion distress since hearing the defamatory statements by Mason, Smith, and Nielson. In order for a claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress to survive it must be "so extreme and outrageous as to permit recovery." Walter v. Stewart, 67 P.3d 1042, 1048 (Utah Ct. App. 2003). The level of distress must "rise to a level that "no reasonable [person] could be expected to endure." Id. at 1049. The conduct of the tortfeasor should be "atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community." Retherford v. AT&T Communications, 844 P.2d 949, 977-78 (Utah 1992). The Walter Court stated that these elements are "each questions of law for the court to determine, in the first instance." 67 P.3d 1042, 1048.

Appellant believes the District Court erred when it held that appellant's claim of intentional emotional distress was insufficient because it did "not rise to the level required by Utah law." The District Court also stated that case law "indicates mere termination is not sufficient to constitute outrageous conduct as required for a valid" claim. (Order, May 24, 2004).

Appellant disagrees with the District Court because the defamatory comments in combination with her being fired caused appellant to suffer severe emotional distress. Appellant was told of complaints stating she was telling patients that Mason was ordering wrong things, that Mason was giving improper care, and that the appellant smelled of alcohol that was complained of by an unsolicited patient. After over 13 years of working with UBMC and having an exemplary work record, appellant was devastated with these complaints. In addition to these defamatory comments, which appellant maintains are completely false, appellant was forced to either sign a disciplinary action form or be terminated. Appellant disagreeing with the false statements recorded on the form, refused to sign the disciplinary action form, resulting in her termination.

These events that occurred severely effected appellant. Appellant has been receiving counseling and is on medication due to the emotion distress she has suffered. In addition, appellant is horribly embarrassed from the statements made and is anxious and fearful of the bad reputation these comments have inflicted. Appellant's ability to find a job due to these defamatory comments has been hindered and this causes additional emotional distress.

Appellant requests that the Court remand this claim back to the District Court so through the discovery process, appellant can further prove the defamatory statements and who they have been published to. These facts will come to light with the ability to discover appellant's employment file and her file with Workforce Services. Appellant further argues from the statements above that her intentional infliction of emotional distress claim does rise to the level of "atrocious and utterly intolerable conduct" because she was not merely terminated, she was defamed by her co-workers and subjected to a forced termination because she would not agree with the defamatory statements alleged. Therefore, appellant's intentional infliction of emotional distress claim should be

remanded back to the District Court because there were sufficient facts stated to support the claim and to survive a Motion to Dismiss.

C. APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT WOULD NOT STAND AS A SUFFICIENT CAUSE OF ACTION, HOWEVER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY NOT ALLOWING APPELLANT TIME TO AMEND THE COMPLAINT.

Appellant claimed tortious interference with employment contract in the Complaint. The Complaint truthfully stated that appellees all contributed to the defamatory statements made against appellant, which led to appellants termination from her employment and which has made it impossible for her to obtain comparable employment. Appellant also argued that appellees had breached their procedure by not following the formal grievance procedure in the Employee Handbook. However, appellant now admits that no contract of employment existed between her and UBMC, due to that it was considered employment at-will and was so stated in the Employee Handbook and Employee Acknowledgement form.

In now admitting that appellant had made a mistake in the claim asserted, appellant feels that because it was requested in the Oral Argument that appellant should have been allowed time to amend the Complaint before a Motion to Dismiss would be considered. Appellant requests this Court to remand this case back to the District Court to allow appellant time to file a Motion to Amend her Complaint.

If appellant is allowed time to amend her Complaint, appellant would be able to amend the claim of tortious interference with employment contract, to the correct claim of wrongful discharge. Along with this amended claim appellant would state supporting facts that show appellees wanted appellant terminated because appellant keep meticulous records and had a zealous desire to follow all state laws and regulations regarding the

treatment of patients. Appellant would show in an amended complaint and through discovery that appellees wanted appellant terminated so they could contravene enforceable professional ethical obligations.

Therefore, based on the above arguments appellant requests that this Court remand this case back to the District Court to allow appellant time to amend this claim in the Complaint. The arguments below will also show support for appellant's request to amend the Complaint.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY NOT ALLOWING APPELLANT TIME TO FILE A MOTION TO AMEND COMPLAINT BEFORE CONSIDERING A MOTION TO DISMISS.

The District Court erred when it ignored appellant's request during oral arguments for time to amend the Complaint. Appellant clearly states on the record that "a Motion to Dismiss would be improper at this time and allowance for an amended complaint would be in order." (Tr. at 18). In granting the Motion to Dismiss, the District Court did not allow any time for appellant to file a Motion to Amend the Complaint.

"The standard of review of a denial to amend pleadings is abuse of discretion." Kasco Services Corporation, 831 P.2d 86, 92 (Utah 1992), citing Cheney v. Rucker, 381 P.2d 86, 91 (Utah 1963). Rule 15(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states, "a party may amend his pleading only by leave of court or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires." (2004). When a trial judge is determining whether a leave should be granted, the judge must consider "whether the opposing side would be put to unavoidable prejudice by having an issue adjudicated for which he had not had time to prepare." Kasco Services Corporation, 831 P.2d 86, 92 (Utah 1992), citing Bekins Bar V Ranch v. Huth, 664 P.2d 455, 464 (Utah 1983).

In the case at bar, the District Court did not allow appellant the time necessary to file a Motion to Amend before dismissing the case. Rule 15(a) states that a leave to

amend should be “freely given when justice so requires.” It would have been more just to grant appellant time to file a Motion to Amend than to take the chosen course of action in dismissing the case with prejudice. Appellant requests this Court to remand this case back to the District Court, so that appellant can file a Motion to Amend the Complaint.

If remanded back to the District Court, appellant would be able to properly file a Motion to Amend accompanied by a memorandum of points and authorities in support, and a proposed amended complaint. See Holmes Development, LLC v. Cook, 48 P.3d 895, 909-10 (Utah 2002). When a court is determining whether to grant or deny a motion to amend, “Utah courts have focused on three factors: the timeliness of the motion; the justification given by the movant for the delay; and the resulting prejudice to the responding party.” Kelly v. Hard Money Funding, Inc., 87 P.3d 734, 742 (Utah Ct. App. 2004).

If appellant was given the time to file a Motion to Amend it would have been considered timely because the case had not reached the advanced stages of the litigation process. At the point of dismissal, appellees had not filed an Answer, therefore, an amended complaint would not have prejudiced the appellees because they would have ample time to prepare for any amended issues. Appellant’s following arguments will support the request that this Court remand this case back to the District Court to allow appellant to file a Motion to Amend.

**A. APPELLANT IS JUSTIFIED IN FILING A MOTION TO AMEND
BECAUSE APPELLEES USED QUALIFIED PRIVILEGE AS AN
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE.**

Appellant would be justified in filing a Motion to Amend because appellees asserted qualified privilege as an affirmative defense. Appellant did not predict the defense of qualified privilege when drafting the Complaint, but once appellees asserted

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