2004

# Melany Zoumadakis v. Uintah Basin Medical Center, and individually Dr. Mark Mason, Lloyd Nielson, Carlyn Smith, and John Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Following the termination of her employment with Uintah Basin, Zoumadakis initiated suit against Uintah Basin and several of its employees and agents alleging defamation, intentional infliction of emotional distress and interference with her contract of employment. Defendants-appellees moved to dismiss Zoumadakis' Complaint with prejudice because it failed to state a claim under Utah law. The trial court correctly dismissed Zoumadakis' defamation claim on several grounds, including failure to plead the alleged defamatory statements with sufficient specificity, qualified and absolute privilege for the alleged defamatory statements and lack of publication. The trial court correctly dismissed Zoumadakis' intentional infliction of emotional distress claim because under Utah law, emotional distress suffered by reason of an allegedly incorrect or wrongful termination is not sufficient to state a claim for intentional infliction. Finally, as Zoumadakis now acknowledges, the trial court correctly dismissed Zoumadakis' interference with employment contract claim because, among other reasons, she was employed at will.

On appeal, Zoumadakis's primary argument is that even if her Complaint failed to state a claim, the trial court erred by failing to allow her to amend in lieu of dismissing her complaint. Zoumadakis makes this argument despite the fact that in the trial court,

she failed to avail herself of the options for amending her Complaint under Utah R. Civil P. 15. The trial court correctly dismissed her Complaint for failure to state a claim, and its decision should be affirmed in all respects.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED ZOUMADAKIS' COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO UTAH R. CIVIL P. 12(B)(6).**

#### **A. The Trial Court Correctly Dismissed Zoumadakis' First Cause Of Action For Defamation.**

The trial court dismissed Zoumadakis' first cause of action for defamation on the grounds (1) she failed to plead her allegations with adequate specificity and (2) the alleged defamatory statements were conditionally privileged. R. 97; Appellant's Addendum, No. 6. Zoumadakis' defamation claim was based on the following alleged communications:

- a. a statement by Smith to Dr. Mason that Zoumadakis had questioned his care of his patients; R. 2, ¶ 9;
- b. statements by Dr. Mason to Uintah Basin that Zoumadakis was telling Dr. Mason's patients that he had ordered the wrong treatment and was giving improper care, and that a patient told Dr. Mason that Zoumadakis smelled of alcohol during a home health visit; R. 2, ¶ 8; and
- c. a written disciplinary report prepared by Nielson that addressed the above complaints by Dr. Mason. R. 2-3, ¶¶ 10, 18.

In her third cause of action, Zoumadakis also alleged that in response to her claim for unemployment, Nielson told the Department of Workforce Services that she quit, and was not fired, and misstated her professionalism and work history.

The elements of a claim for defamation include (1) that defendants published statements concerning plaintiff; (2) such statements were false, defamatory and not subject to any privilege; (3) such statements were published with the requisite degree of fault; and (4) their publication resulted in damage. *West v. Thomson Newspapers*, 872 P.2d 999, 1007 (Utah 1994). Here, the trial court correctly dismissed Zoumadakis' defamation claim because (1) she failed to plead her claim with adequate particularity; (2) to the extent she adequately plead defamatory statements, the statements of Dr. Mason and Smith were subject to a qualified privilege; and (3) with respect to the statements attributed to Nielson, such statements were not published, were not defamatory or were subject to a qualified privilege.

**1. Zoumadakis' Defamation Claim Was Not Pled With Particularity As Required By Utah R. Civil P. 9.**

Utah law requires that defamation claims be pled with particularity. *Boisjoly v. Morton Thiokol, Inc.*, 706 F.Supp 795, 799-800 (D. Utah 1988); *Williams v. State Farm Ins. Co.*, 656 P.2d 966, 971 (Utah 1982). To meet this requirement, a plaintiff must identify the defamatory statement either by its "words or words to that effect;" general statements characterizing the defamatory words are inadequate. *Id.* Courts have also required that the complaint allege when, where and to whom the alleged defamatory statement was made. *Boisjoly*, 706 F.Supp. at 800. This level of specificity is required so that the court can determine if the complained of statement is defamatory and also so that the defendant may formulate a defense. *Id.*

Applying the above standards, Zoumadakis' Complaint failed to state a claim and the district court properly dismissed her claim. Although Zoumadakis identified generally the type of statements made, she failed to identify when and where such statements were allegedly made, and as to Dr. Mason's alleged statements, exactly to whom the statements were made. R. 2-3, ¶¶ 8, 9 and 18. Thus, Zoumadakis' first cause of action was properly dismissed.

**2. The Alleged Statements of Smith and Dr. Mason Were Subject To A Qualified Privilege.**

The law has long recognized that a publication is conditionally privileged if it is made to protect a legitimate interest of the publisher. *Brehany v. Nordstrom*, 812 P.2d 49, 58-59 (Utah 1991). The privilege also extends to statements made to advance a legitimate common interest between the publisher and the recipient of the publication. *Id.*; *Lind v. Lynch*, 665 P.2d 1276, 1278 (Utah 1983). Here, construing the Complaint in a light most favorable to her, Zoumadakis alleged that Smith, Dr. Mason's medical assistant, made a defamatory statement to Dr. Mason and Dr. Mason made defamatory statements to Uintah Basin regarding Zoumadakis' interaction with Dr. Mason's patients.

Even accepting the truth of these allegations, Zoumadakis' defamation claim was properly dismissed because Smith's alleged statements to Dr. Mason, and Dr. Mason's alleged statements to Uintah Basin, were subject to the common interest qualified privilege and therefore cannot constitute defamation. Smith works for Dr. Mason as his medical assistant. As such, Smith and Dr. Mason have a common interest in the welfare of the patients seen by Dr. Mason. Statements by Smith to Dr. Mason regarding

Zoumadakis' interaction with and care of Dr. Mason's patients clearly fall within that common interest.

Similarly, given that Dr. Mason is under contract with Uintah Basin and provides services to its patients, and Uintah Basin's home health department provides services to Dr. Mason's patients, Dr. Mason and Uintah Basin share a common interest in both their patients and the care provided to those patients by Uintah Basin personnel. Statements by Dr. Mason to Nielson, who directs Uintah Basin's home health division and directly supervises Zoumadakis, regarding Zoumadakis' performance of her home health duties with Dr. Mason's patients fall within that common interest and within the qualified privilege. *Brehany*, 812 P.2d at 58-59; *see also Yu v. Northwest Pipeline Corp.*, 1991 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12722, \*14-15 (D. Utah June 11, 1991) (employer-employee communications regarding employee discipline matter subject to common interest qualified privilege) (A copy of *Yu* is contained in the Addendum hereto.).

Zoumadakis claims that dismissal of her defamation claim was error because she submitted an affidavit in response to the Motion to Dismiss alleging that Smith's statements to Dr. Mason and Dr. Mason's statements to Uintah Basin were made with malice, which vitiates the qualified privilege. *See Brehany*, 812 P.2d at 58 (plaintiff can overcome qualified privilege by demonstrating actual malice or over-publication). As an initial matter, as she acknowledges, Zoumadakis' allegations of malice were not contained in her Complaint. Defendants-appellees sought dismissal of Zoumadakis' Complaint under Utah R. Civil P. 12(b)(6). A Rule 12(b)(6) motion addresses the sufficiency of the allegations contained in the claim, accepting their truth for purposes of

the motion. Zoumadakis cannot supply missing elements of her Complaint by way of an affidavit. *See e.g. Nester v. Bank One Corp.*, 224 F.Supp.2d 1344, 1346 (D. Utah 2002) (where Rule 12(b)(6) motion addresses only the sufficiency of complaint, it is inappropriate to consider an affidavit from plaintiff in connection with the motion).<sup>1</sup> Thus, the trial court correctly dismissed her defamation claim to the extent it rests on the statements of Smith and Dr. Mason.

**3. Zoumadakis' Defamation Claim Was Properly Dismissed To The Extent It Rests On Statements By Nielson.**

**a. Zoumadakis Failed to Allege Publication of Nielson's Disciplinary Report.**

Zoumadakis' defamation claim rests in part on a disciplinary report prepared by Nielson and presented to Zoumadakis addressing the complaints raised by Dr. Mason. To make out a claim for defamation, Zoumadakis must demonstrate that the allegedly defamatory statement (i.e., the disciplinary report) was published to third parties. *DeBry v. Godbe*, 992 P.2d 979, 985 (Utah 1999) ("the requirement of publication means that the defamatory statement must be communicated to a third person and that the third person reads and understands the statement"). However, Zoumadakis alleges only that Nielson showed her the disciplinary report; she does not allege that Nielson published the disciplinary report to any third party. Because Zoumadakis has failed to establish publication by Nielson, a necessary element of a defamation claim, the trial court

---

<sup>1</sup> Moreover, the trial court properly disregarded her affidavit because it contained conclusions, as opposed to facts, R. 67, ¶ a, (her allegations of malicious intent on the part of Smith and Dr. Mason) and to the extent it alleged facts, such facts were based on inadmissible hearsay, rather than personal knowledge. R. 67, ¶ b (statements regarding Nielson's actions).



correctly dismissed her first cause of action to the extent it rests on the disciplinary report.

**b. Nielson's Statements To The Utah Department Of Workforce Services Were Either Privileged or Not Defamatory.**

Zoumadakis also alleged that Nielson defamed her by telling the Department of Workforce Services that she quit, rather than that she was fired, and made unspecified statements about her professionalism. To the extent Zoumadakis' defamation claim rested on these allegations, dismissal was appropriate because any statements by Nielson to the Department of Workforce Services are subject to both an absolute and a qualified privilege.

Utah courts recognize an absolute privilege protecting statements made in a judicial or quasi-judicial proceeding, including administrative proceedings such as unemployment proceedings in the Department of Workforce Services. *See Price v. Armour*, 949 P.2d 1251, 1257 (Utah 1997) (judicial proceedings privilege covers all proceedings of a judicial or quasi-judicial nature, including statements made in the course of an administrative proceeding). The necessary elements for application of the judicial proceeding privilege include (1) the statement must have been made during or in the course of a judicial proceeding; (2) the statement must have some reference to the subject matter of the proceeding; and (3) the statement must have been made by someone acting in the capacity of judge, juror, witness, litigant or counsel. *Id.* at 1256. Nielson's alleged statements to the Department of Workforce Security clearly meet the above test. Nielson's statements were made in response to and addressed Zoumadakis' claim for

unemployment benefits and, as a representative of Uintah Basin, he was acting as a litigant. Furthermore, even if the alleged statements were not covered by the judicial proceeding privilege, such statements would be subject to the common interest qualified privilege. *Yu*, 1991 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12722 at \*15 (employer's statements regarding reasons for plaintiff's termination made to Job Services in connection with plaintiff's unemployment claim were subject to qualified privilege).

Dismissal was also appropriate because Nielson's alleged statement that Zoumadakis quit, and was not fired, was not defamatory. To constitute defamation, a statement must impeach an individual's honesty, integrity, virtue or reputation, and thereby expose the individual to public hatred, contempt or ridicule. *West*, 872 P.2d. at 1008. Simply stating that a person quit his or her job, even if untrue, does not constitute defamation as a matter of law.

Finally, to the extent Zoumadakis' defamation claim rested on her allegation that Nielson misstated her professionalism to the Department of Workforce Services, her claim was properly dismissed because she failed to identify with particularity the statements allegedly made. *See* Section I.A.1. above.

**B. The Trial Court Correctly Dismissed Zoumadakis' Second Cause Of Action For Intentional Infliction Of Emotional Distress.**

Zoumadakis' second cause of action purported to state a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress against all defendants. The trial court correctly dismissed this claim on the ground the alleged conduct did not rise to the level required to state a claim under Utah law, and its decision should be affirmed.

To state a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress under Utah law, a plaintiff must show:

(a) that the defendant engaged in some conduct toward the plaintiff considered outrageous and intolerable in that it offends the generally accepted standards of decency and morality (b) with the purpose of inflicting emotional distress or where any reasonable person would have known that such would result, and (c) that severe emotional distress resulted as a direct result of the defendant's conduct.

*Ankers v. Rodman*, 995 F.Supp. 1329, 1335 (D. Utah 1997) (quoting *Russell v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc.*, 842 P.2d 896, 905 (Utah 1992)). Dismissal of a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress on a Rule 12 motion is appropriate if all the elements of the tort are not alleged or if the alleged conduct on which the claim is based does not rise to the level of outrageousness required under Utah law. *Boisjoly*, 706 F.Supp. at 801-02.

Here, dismissal of Zoumadakis' intentional infliction claim was correct because, as a matter of law, the alleged conduct on which she based her claim does not rise to the level of outrageousness required under Utah law. Whether the alleged conduct at issue may reasonably be regarded as so extreme and outrageous as to permit recovery is a question of law for the court. *Ankers*, 995 F.Supp. at 1335. The burden of proving outrageous conduct is a heavy one, and liability may be imposed only where the conduct is "atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community." *Retherford v. AT & T Communications*, 844 P.2d 949, 977-78 n.19 (Utah 1992). Conduct which simply constitutes an insult or indignity is not actionable.

Zoumadakis alleged that defendants Dr. Mason and Smith made untrue statements to Uintah Basin regarding her work performance in providing services to their patients.

Such allegations, even if true, hardly rise to the level of “atrocious and utterly intolerable” behavior as required to establish a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress. The Utah courts have consistently rejected claims for intentional infliction that arise out of the alleged wrongful termination of an employee. For example, in *Larson v. Sysco Corp.*, 767 P.2d 557 (Utah 1989), plaintiff claimed he had been wrongfully terminated, and in addition to a claim for breach of contract, sought recovery for intentional infliction of emotional distress. The Utah Supreme Court affirmed the lower court’s grant of summary judgment on plaintiff’s intentional infliction claim, stating that “[w]hile termination can be an emotionally distressing event in one’s life, mere termination alone does not constitute the intentional infliction of emotional distress.” *Id.* at 561.

In *Sperber v. Galigher Ash Co.*, 747 P.2d 1025 (Utah 1987), the Utah Supreme Court held that plaintiff’s claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress arising out of an alleged wrongful termination was properly dismissed for failure to state a claim under Utah law. As in *Larson*, the Court found that mere discharge from employment, even where plaintiff claimed, as here, that the employer’s stated reason for termination was incorrect and a pretext, did not state a claim for intentional infliction as a matter of law. The Court noted that while every employee who contests a termination decision suffers some emotional anguish as a result of the termination, such distress is simply insufficient to state a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress, absent facts that would independently support such a claim. *Id.* at 1028-1029.

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